






      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting May 5, 2021 Page 1 
 

MIDDLETON CITY COUNCIL 
MAY 5, 2021 

 
The Middleton City Council meeting on May 5, 2021 was called-to-order at 5:30 p.m. by Mayor 
Rule.  
 
Roll Call: Mayor Rule, Council President Kiser, Council Members Huggins, Garner and O’Meara 
were all present.  
 
Pledge of Allegiance, Invocation: Dorothy Grooms 
 
Action Items 

A. Approve Amended Agenda 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve the Amended Agenda as posted May 
3, 2021 at 5:00 p.m. Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and approved 
unanimously. 

 
Information Items 

1. Research report on how other jurisdictions handle bonding for infrastructure 
items not completed during platting process. (Request by Council President Kiser) – 
Roberta Stewart 
 
Mayor Rule turned time to City Planner Roberta Stewart who said the City of Middleton 
bonding process was very similar to surrounding areas. Overall, she believes the cities 
process could be tightened up by having the engineers review contractors estimates for 
accuracy before bond amount is submitted to City Council for approval.  
 

Action Items 
1. Consent Agenda (items of routine administrative business) 

a.  Consider approving minutes for City Council April 21, 2021 regular meeting. 
b.  Consider approving minutes for Joint Agency Information Workshop April 23,  

2021 meeting. 
c.  Consider approving payable thru April 29, 2021 in the amount of $109,650.22. 
d.  Consider approving May 7, 2021 payroll in the amount of $80,607.83. 
e.  Consider approving FCO of Preliminary Plat - Piccadilly Square Subdivision. 

 
Mayor Rule called the items.  
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser approve Consent Agenda Items a, b, c, d and e. 
Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and approved unanimously. 
 
2. Consider unappointing Yorgason Law as the cities legal counsel. – Mayor Rule 
  
 Mayor Rule called the item and said the city is grateful for Chris Yorgason’s service. He 
has served the City of Middleton for many years. Yorgason also represents Star and 
Middleton is having a conflict with Star. It is time to change legal counsel. 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to unappoint Yorgason Law as the cities legal 
counsel. Motion seconded by Council Member Garner and approved unanimously.  
 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting May 5, 2021 Page 2 
 

 
3. Consider appointing Hamilton, Michaelson & Hilty, LLP as legal counsel. – Mayor 
Rule 
 

Mayor Rule called the item and explained that he has worked with Hamilton, Michaelson 
& Hilty, LLP previously at Canyon County. He said Attorney Mark Hilty and his staff bring a 
lot of resources, variety, and specialization to Middleton. This will be helpful to have more 
than one person to call regarding all legal needs. Mayor Rule introduced Mark Hilty who 
gave a brief bio and said he and his firm are looking forward to working with the City of 
Middleton in this capacity. 
 
Motion:  Motion by Council President Kiser to approve appointing Hamilton, Michaelson & 
Hilty, LLP as legal counsel. Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and approved 
unanimously by Roll Call Vote. 
 
Mayor Rule congratulated and invited Attorney Mark Hilty to sit in his proper place on the 
stand as the City Attorney. 
 
4. Consider approving purchase and installation of a bailer weighing mechanism to 
weigh the alfalfa produced on the 6 different zones in the Re-use Farm from Agri-
Services in amount not to exceed $9,911.54. – Bruce Bayne  
 

Mayor Rule called item and turned time to Public Works Director Bruce Bayne who 
explained the need of weighing the bales with the core samples and the different zones to 
prove the uptake/additional weight brought in from the reuse farm. Someone from the City 
will be doing the sampling to make sure each of the 6 zones are sampled correctly. The 
farmer who is farming the reuse farm has an extensive history working on DEQ projects, and 
Bruce has confidence in his abilities as well. This is the tail end of the 1.5-million-dollar 
project. This estimate is set to expire May 14, 2021 which is why it is being brought before 
council. If it expires and nothing is done another option will be brought before council.  

 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve purchase and installation of a bailer 
weighing mechanism to weigh the alfalfa produced on the 6 different zones in the Re-use 
Farm from Agri-Services in amount not to exceed $9,911.54. Motion seconded by Council 
Member Huggins and approved unanimously. 

 
5. Consider approving Resolution 457-21: Transferring asset of baseball backstop at 

Middleton Place Park to Greater Middleton Parks and Recreation District – Becky 

Crofts. 

Mayor Rule called the item and City Administrator Becky Crofts explained for years 

Middleton Place Park has had a baseball diamond that for many years was used by the 

Middleton Legion Baseball teams. It hasn’t been used or requested use by the baseball 

teams in the past 2-3 years. The City has however received multiple requests from 

Middleton soccer teams (MSC and REAL) to use that space for soccer fields. The resolution 

is to surplus the baseball backstop. GMPRD is in need of a backstop. We would like to 

convert the field at Middleton Place Park to just grass and allow the soccer teams to use the 

fields to provide a more space. The backstop is worth about $5000. In return for that 

GMPRD will remove the backstop, remove the diamond dust and do the reclamation work 

and repair that area so that it can be seeded for grass in the future.  



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting May 5, 2021 Page 3 
 

Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve Resolution 457-21: Transferring asset 
of baseball backstop at Middleton Place Park to Greater Middleton Parks and Recreation 
District.  Council Member O’Meara recused himself from the vote because the GMPRD will 
benefit from this action, although he personally will not benefit. Motion seconded by Council 
Member Garner and approved unanimously. 
 
6. Consider approving proposed enlarged Area of Impact and similar changes to 
numerous Comprehensive Plan Maps in preparation for negotiations with Canyon 
County. – Roberta Stewart 
  

Mayor Rule called the item and Roberta Stewart explained the need to update and 
expand the Area of Impact due to additional development extending to the northern 
boundary. Under Middleton Code and code for Canyon County, we cannot expand the area 
of Impact without negotiating an agreement with the County. We are asking that City Council 
grant the permission to begin negotiation of that boundary with the County.  
 

Mayor Rule said this is a step to start the process of being able to annex properties that 
want to come into the City but are outside of the current area of impact.   
 
Council discussion: The School District and GMPRD boundaries go all the way to Can-Ada 
Road. This makes sense to start this process.  
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve the proposed enlarged Area of 
Impact and similar changes to numerous Comprehensive Plan Maps in preparation for 
negotiations with Canyon County. Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and 
approved unanimously. 
 
7. Public Hearing: Applications from Hayden Homes Idaho LLC for 
annexation/rezone, development agreement and preliminary plat with respect to the 
Bridger Creek Subdivision located at 0 Emmett Road, Tax Parcel No., R38211012.  The 
proposed zoning for the preliminary plat is residential R-3. The preliminary plat 
consists of 44 buildable lots and 6 common lots. – Roberta Stewart. 

 
      Mayor Rule called the item and opened the public hearing at 6:15 p.m. 
 
 Planner Roberta Stewart presented the Staff Report to Council. (See Exhibit 1) 
 
 Mayor Rule opened the public testimony at 6:24 p.m. 
 
 Applicant – Tim Mokwa – Hayden Homes: Roberta covered most everything he had to say. 

Within the impact area they have access to public utilities. Their application is compatible 
and consistent with the zoning to the south. They have coordinated with Toll Brothers on the 
location of that stub road out of phase 14 of West Highlands. They have also coordinated 
with property owners to the north and have agreed to put in a fence across the stub street to 
the north until such time as it gets extended so that they will have access to the gate there 
because our pressurized irrigation system will be built passed the gate and they will need 
access to the road. The frontage along Emmett Road has a severe drop after their property. 
They have purposely tried to avoid that and will just create a landscape buffer area for 
frontage and stormwater drainage. They have one access in and out the property until 
another development to the north of them comes in. They have 44 lots so according to fire 
code they are required to have a secondary access and have coordinated with CHD4 for 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting May 5, 2021 Page 4 
 

that emergency only access down to Emmett Road which would have collapsible bollards on 
either side so it is not used as cut through. They are in compliance with the Comp Plan, and 
have the minimum lot size just over 8,000 sq ft with average lot size of 9.100 sq ft. He has 
no objections to the recommended conditions. 

 
 Abby Stover – T-O Engineers: She is the engineer on the project.  
 
 Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to close public testimony and seconded by 

Council Member Huggins and approved unanimously.  
 
 Mayor Rule closed the public testimony at 6:29 p.m. 
 
 Council Discussion: No discussion 
  

Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve the Applications from Hayden Homes 
Idaho LLC for annexation/rezone, development agreement and preliminary plat with respect 
to the Bridger Creek Subdivision located at 0 Emmett Road, Tax Parcel No., R38211012.  
Provided they meet all City and Fire and Staff report recommendations minus the 3rd stub 
road. The proposed zoning for the preliminary plat is residential R-3. The preliminary plat 
consists of 44 buildable lots and 6 common lots. Motion seconded by Council Member 
O’Meara and approved unanimously by Roll Call Vote.  

  
Mayor Rule closed the public hearing at 6:33 p.m. 

8.   Public Hearing: An application from Dan and Kerri LaFever for annexation, rezone, 
and development agreement with respect to a 5.27-acre parcel located at 23897 Fox 
Avenue (tax parcel no. R17932011).  Applicant is requesting a rezone to residential R-
3. – Roberta Stewart. 

 
Mayor Rule opened the public hearing at 6:33 p.m. Mayor disclosed this is his neighbor 

right to the north of him, he is very familiar with this property, but he has no financial interest 
in this or any kind of conflict.  

 
Planner Roberta Stewart: Presented the Staff Report (See Exhibit 2) 
 
Council Member Huggins asked that even if two lots are created, there has to be 
improvements done? Roberta said this is a complicated lot so if there is a lot split it is too 
complicated to be done with an administrative lot split. 
 
Mayor Rule opened the public testimony at 6:39 p.m. 
 
Applicant: Kerri LeFever: Roberta said everything in detail. She is open to answer any 
questions from the council. There were no questions. 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to close public testimony and seconded by 
Council Member Garner and approved unanimously.  
 
Mayor Rule closed the public testimony at 6:41 p.m. 
 
Council Discussion:  
Kiser: Until he saw the packet, he didn’t realize this parcel was not already in Middleton City. 



      

 

Middleton City Council Meeting May 5, 2021 Page 5 
 

He walks by this property frequently and is excited they can expand and do what they want 
with this property. 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to approve an application from Dan and Kerri 
LaFever for annexation, rezone, and development agreement with respect to a 5.27-acre 
parcel located at 23897 Fox Avenue (tax parcel no. R17932011). Requiring that applicants 
meet all future City recommendations as we move forward. Motion seconded by Council 
Member O’Meara and approved unanimously by Roll Call Vote. 
 
Mayor Rule closed the public hearing at 6:44 p.m. 
 
9. Consider approving a Contribution Agreement with City of Middleton and 
Providence Properties, LLC for the Waterford Subdivision Intersection Improvements, 
and Bridge Improvements. – Roberta Stewart. 
   
 Mayor Rule called the item. City Planner Roberta Stewart explained the agreement. 
After much discussion the Council asked Roberta to bring back a diagram/flow chart 
showing the payments and time line. 
 
Motion: Motion by Council President Kiser to continue item number 9 to the next regularly 
scheduled meeting (May 19, 2021). Motion seconded by Council Member O’Meara and 
approved unanimously. 

  

Public Comment:  

Mike Graefe: He appreciates how the council worked. He is happy to see that if the council 

doesn’t understand something they ask for clarification and flow charts instead of pushing things 

through that are not clear.  

Mayor Comments, Council Comments:  

Council Member O’Meara: Concerned with the intersection at SH44 and Middleton Road the 

right turn only lane needs to be refreshed and perhaps baby bumpers could be placed to not 

allow cars to go straight from the right turn only lane. He also would like to the striping in front of 

the fire station, not allow traffic to stack up and prevent fire trucks from getting in and out.  

Mayor Rule: The city has changed new legal counsel and hired additional counsel - Chris Meyer 

because of the issues of Star expanding their city limits into Middleton Impact Area. It is really 

getting to be a problem and should have been addressed several years ago when it started, but 

for whatever reason it is being addressed now. Be aware this will probably come up in the 

papers, there will be public comment. That is all part of this equation being so close to Ada 

County and the growth that both counties are experiencing.  

Adjourn: Mayor Rule adjourned the city council meeting at 7:02 p.m. 

             
ATTEST:      Steven J. Rule, Mayor  
 
      
Jennica, Deputy Clerk 
Minutes Approved: May 19, 2021 



 
 

1 
 

 

Middleton City Council 
Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Order 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

In the Matter of the Request of Hayden Homes Idaho LLC for Annexation/Rezone, 
Development Agreement, and Preliminary Plat involving 44 residential lots and six 
common lots on 14.71 acres of land located at Emmett Road (Tax Parcel #R38211012): 

 
A. Findings of Fact: 

 
1. Hearing Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.) 
 

2. Process Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.) 

 
3. Application and Property Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, 

which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this 
reference.) 

 

4. Required Findings per Middleton City Code 1-14-2(E)(7): (See Staff Report for the 
hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and 
incorporated herein by this reference.) 
 

B. Conclusions of Law: 
 

1. That the City of Middleton shall exercise the powers conferred upon it by the “Local 
Land Use Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-
6503). 
 

2. That due consideration has been given to the comment(s) received from the 
governmental subdivisions providing services in the City of Middleton planning 
jurisdiction. 

 

3. That notice of the application and public hearing were given according to law.   
 

4. That City Council’s public hearing was conducted according to law, and the City has 
kept a record of the application and related documents.  

 

5. That codes and standards applicable to the application are the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15,1-16, 5-1, 5-3, and 5-4. 

 
6. That public facilities and services required by the proposed development will not 

impose expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed.  
 

7. That this approval and recommendation are subject to the Conditions of Approval set 
forth in the attached Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is 



             
        

2 
 

incorporated herein by reference.  The City Council further finds that the requirements 
set forth in the conditions of approval are reasonable, and the Applicant shall comply 
with the requirements as a conditions of approval of the application. 

 

C. Decision and Order: 
 

Pursuant to the City Council’s authority as provided in Middleton City Code 1-5-5, and based 
upon the above Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby ordered that: 

 
1. Applicant’s request for annexation/rezone, development agreement, and preliminary 

plat are approved with the conditions set forth in the Staff Report for the hearing date of 
May 5, 2021, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by 
this reference.    

 
 
WRITTEN DECISION AND ORDER APPROVED ON: May 19, 2021. 
 
 
 
            
      Steven J. Rule 
      Mayor, City of Middleton 
 
Attest: 
 
 
      
Roberta Stewart 
Planning and Zoning Department 

 



 

1 
 

             STAFF REVIEW AND REPORT 
                           Middleton City Council 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Bridger Creek Subdivision 
 

Snapshot Summary 

 
  

A. City Council Hearing Date: May 5, 2021   

B. Project Description: Residential subdivision with 44 buildable lots and 6 common lots 
on 14.71 acres of vacant land located at 0 Emmett Road (Tax Parcel #R38211012).   

C. Application Requests: Applicant has three applications before City Council. The 
first application is for annexation and rezone.  Applicant is requesting a rezone from 
County R-1 to City of Middleton R-3 zoning. The second application is for 
Development Agreement, and the third application is for Preliminary Plat involving 44 
residential building lots and 6 common lots.  
 
Applicant had a 4th application for variance before the Planning & Zoning Commission. 
Specifically, applicant requested a variance to allow a 60’ turning radius for streets 
instead of the code required 125’ turning radius.This allowed tighter corners on two 
corners in the subdivision. The P&Z Commission approved that application, and those 
turning radiuses are shown on the plat before Council. 
 

D. Current Zoning & Property Condition:  The property is currently located in the 
County and zoned R-1.  The property to the South is within Middleton city limits, and it 
is zoned R-3.  Properties to the west, north and east are located in the County and 
zoned Agriculture. 
 

rstewart
Text Box
    EXHIBIT "A"



             
        

2 
 

E. City Services:  City water and sewer are located immediately south of the project in 
the West Highlands project. Sewer and water will be brought up through Roper 
Avenue to service all lots and will be extended northward to service future 
subdivisions. Additionally, per Engineering review and comments, Developer will 
extend a 12” water main in the right-of-way of Emmet Road along the frontage of the 
project parcel.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F. Traffic, Access & Streets:   

 

Access to the subdivision is via Willis Avenue and north through the West Highlands 
subdivision.  
 

                               
 
Canyon Highway District #4 and City Engineer have recommended a third stub street 
into the “Hopkins” property to the north so that if the parcel is ever developed in the 
future, the parcel will take access through Bridger Creek rather than direct access on 
to Emmett Road.   
 

W. Highlands Subdivision 

Em
m

et
t 

R
o

ad
 

Access 

Improvement Area 



             
        

3 
 

However, Planning Staff does not recommend a third access,  Code only requires 
developer to create two accesses.  The five acre “Hopkins Property” already has 
access to Emmett road, and it would be overly burdensome to force Bridger Creek to 
create additional accesses that may never be needed in the future.  
 
As to frontage improvements, Developer should be required to improve, per City 
standards, the 50’ half portion of Emmet Road. Staff recommends this requirement be 
made a condition of approval for preliminary plat and/or inserted into the Development 
Agreement. 
 
Engineering Staff and ITD have reviewed developer’s preliminary plat and Traffic 
Impact Study.  Both have recommended that Developer pay the following pro-rata 
share for traffic impacts and intersection controls:  $18,529 toward intersection of 
Emmett Road and Hwy 44; $11,250 for intersection of Willis and Hartley; and $13,750 
for intersection of Emmett and Purple Sage for total pro-rata fee of $43,529.   
 
Developer’s payment of these pro-rata fees should be made a part of the Development 
Agreement and/or condition of approval for preliminary plat.  
  

G. Pathway, Sidewalks & Open Space:  5’ wide concrete sidewalks span the local 

roads throughout the subdivision.  An 8’ wide asphalt pathway will span along the 

frontage improvements to Emmett Road. Per MCC 5-4-10-4(B), Developer is required 

to create a traffic buffer along Emmett Road, which buffer is appropriately shown on 

the preliminary plat. 

Developer has provided 16% open space in the subdivision. This exceeds the 5% 

minimum required by MCC 5-4-10-10.  A half acre lawn area has been provided by 

developer on a common lot in the center of the subdivision (L1C/B2) 

H. Stormdrain and Pressurized Irrigation: Stormdrain facilities and pressurized 

irrigation have been provided and are approved by the City Engineer. 

 

I. Middleton Rural Fire District:  The subject property is in the Middleton Rural Fire 
District.  The District has reviewed the preliminary plat and approved the preliminary 
plat subject to compliance with District comments.  
 

J. Dimensional Standards/Preliminary Plat Application: The preliminary plat complies 
with all dimensional standards and codes of the City of Middleton except the lower 
turning radius standard approved by the P&Z Commission.    
 

K. Annexation and Rezone: Applicant is requesting that the entire 14.7 acre project 
parcel be annexed into the City of Middleton and rezoned to R-3 zoning, which permits 
three single family homes per gross acres.  The parcel is contiguous to City limits, and 
City services are accessible to the parcel, which are the primary requirements for 
annexation. Applicant has also complied with all other documentation requirements 
necessary to complete the annexation and rezone of the property. 



             
        

4 
 

 

L. Development Agreement:  Every annexation and rezone request should entail a 
Development Agreement (“DA”).  Applicant and City Staff have used the City’s form for 
the DA currently before Council, except the following five provisions have been 
inserted: 
 

a. Project area to be zoned R-3. 
b. Developer shall, at its own cost, improve the 50’ half-road portion of Emmett 

Road to City standards and dedicate the same to the City of Middleton. 
c. Developer shall pay additional pro-rata or proportionate share fees for all traffic 

impacts and intersection controls in the amount of $43,529. 
d. Developer shall build only single family homes, without 2nd accessory dwellings. 
e. Developer may use subdivision property not used for residential purposes for 

common area, utility lines, storm water management or other “allowed” uses per 
MCC 5-4-1 Table 1. 
 

M. Comprehensive Plan & Land Use Map:  Applicant’s project complies with the 
Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map because the project parcel is designated 
“Residential” on the Land Use Map, which matches the residential use planned for the 
site. 
 
Additionally, Applicant’s project complies with the Goals, Objectives, and Strategies of 
the 2019 Middleton Comprehensive Plan as follows: 
 

a. Goals 3 and 23: The project provides safe vehicle and pedestrian facilities in 
light of the street improvements and sidewalks shown on the preliminary plat.  

b. Goal 4: The project will establish a good quality of life with development that 
pays through impact fees and property taxes for the public services it receives 
when infrastructure is installed. Additionally, quality lots for residential use 
increase the quality of life and general welfare of the City. 

c. Goals 11: The housing type matches the residents’ lifestyle in the area the 
project is located.  

 

N. Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  None. 
 
O. Comments from Agencies: As already noted above, planning staff received the 

following comments from agencies: 3/8/2021 comments from the Middleton Rural Fire 
District. 4/5/2021 comments from Canyon Highway District No. 4, and 4/2/2021 
comments from Black Canyon Irrigation District. (Copies of the comments can be 
found in the City Council Packet.)   
 

P. Comments from City Engineer and Planning Staff: Copies of City Engineer 
comments dated 3/19/2021 and 4/5/2021 and Planning Staff comments dated 
3/16/2021 and 4/5/2021 are in the City Council packet. 

 



             
        

5 
 

Q. Applicant Information:  Application was received and accepted on February 8, 2021. 
The Applicant/Owner is Hayden Homes Idaho LLC, 1406 N. Main St. #109, Meridian, 
ID 83642 (208) 869-9785.  
 

R. Notices & Neighborhood Meeting:    Dates: 
      

Newspaper Notification     04/18/2021 
 

 Radius notification mailed to 
 Adjacent landowners within 300’    04/16/2021  

 
 Circulation to Agencies     04/16/2021  
 
 Sign Posting property     04/16/2021 

 
Neighborhood Meeting     01/21/2021 
 

S. Applicable Codes and Standards: 
  
Idaho State Statute Title 67, Chapter 65 
Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction and Middleton Supplement thereto 
Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 1-16, 5-1, 5-3, and 5-4. 
 

T. Conclusion and Recommended Conditions of Approval: 
 
If City Council is inclined to approve the applications for annexation/rezone, 
development agreement, and preliminary plat, Planning Staff recommends that the 
preliminary plat approval be subject to the following conditions of approval:  
 

1. City of Middleton municipal domestic water, fire flow and sanitary sewer 
services are to be extended to serve the subdivision. 

2. City Engineer review comments are to be completed and approved except 
comment regarding 125’ turning radius. 

3. All Planning Staff review comments are to be completed and approved. 
4. All requirements of the Middleton Rural Fire District are to be completed and 

approved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by Middleton City Planner, Robert Stewart    Dated: 4/29/2021 



 
 

1 
 

 

Middleton City Council 
Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Decision & Order 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
In the Matter of the Request of Dan and Kerri LaFever for Annexation/Rezone and 
Development Agreement involving a 5.27 acre parcel with single family home located 
at 23897 Fox Avenue (Tax Parcel #R17932011): 

 
A. Findings of Fact: 

 
1. Hearing Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.) 
 

2. Process Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.) 

 
3. Application and Property Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, 

which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this 
reference.) 

 
4. Required Findings per Middleton City Code 1-14-2(E)(7): (See Staff Report for the 

hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and 
incorporated herein by this reference.) 
 

B. Conclusions of Law: 
 

1. That the City of Middleton shall exercise the powers conferred upon it by the “Local 
Land Use Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-
6503). 
 

2. That due consideration has been given to the comment(s) received from the 
governmental subdivisions providing services in the City of Middleton planning 
jurisdiction. 

 
3. That notice of the application and public hearing were given according to law.   

 
4. That City Council’s public hearing was conducted according to law, and the City has 

kept a record of the application and related documents.  
 

5. That codes and standards applicable to the application are the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for 
Public Works Construction, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15,1-16, 5-1, 5-3, and 5-4. 

 
6. That public facilities and services required by the proposed annexation will not impose 

expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed.  
 

7. That this approval and recommendation are subject to the Conditions of Approval set 
forth in the attached Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is 



             
        

2 
 

incorporated herein by reference.  The City Council further finds that the requirements 
set forth in the conditions of approval are reasonable, and the Applicant shall comply 
with the requirements as a conditions of approval of the application. 

 
C. Decision and Order: 

 
Pursuant to the City Council’s authority as provided in Middleton City Code 1-5-5, and based 
upon the above Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby decided and ordered 
that: 

 
1. The annexation/rezone application and development agreement is approved subject to 

the Conditions of Approval set forth in the Staff Report for the May 5, 2021 Public 
Hearing attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
    

 
 
WRITTEN RECOMMENDATION AND DECISION APPROVED ON: May 19, 2021. 
 
 
 
            
      Steven J. Rule, Mayor 
      City of Middleton 
 
Attest: 
 
 
      
Roberta Stewart 
Planning and Zoning Department 

 



 

1 
 

             STAFF REVIEW AND REPORT 
                             Middleton City Council 

 
 

 

 

 

LaFever Annexation – 23897 Fox Avenue 
 

Snapshot Summary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

A. City Council Hearing Date: May 5, 2021   

B. Project Description and Application Request: Request to annex 5.27 acre parcel 
with single family home into Middleton City limits and rezone to R-3.  Parcel is part of 
the Hawthorn Subdivision. The address is 23897 Fox Avenue, Tax Parcel No. 
R17932011.   

Once annexed, the parcel has a potential for future development and may be the 
subject of a preliminary plat with R-3 zoning, which would allow up to 15 single family 
homes.  

C. Current Zoning & Property Condition:  The property is currently located in the 
County and zoned Agriculture.  The properties to the south and east are within 
Middleton City limits and are zoned R-3.  Property to the north and west is county 
property zoned agriculture.  
 

D. City Services: City water and sewer are located at the intersection of Fox Avenue and 
N. Powder River Dr., which is immediately accessible to the parcel site.    

                                          

rstewart
Text Box
Exhibit "A"



             
        

2 
 

E. Traffic, Access & Streets:  Access to the parcel is via Fox Avenue.  If the parcel 
owners choose to develop the parcel after annexation, per the Development 
Agreement accompanying this Annexation, they will need to improve the 30’ half-road 
of Fox Avenue and dedicate that portion of the right of way to the City of Middleton.  
This improvement will include roadway, curb & gutter, and 5’ sidewalk. Additionally, if 
the parcel owner chooses to develop the parcel, they will be required to move their 
approach or access further north so it is directly opposite N. Powder River Street, 
which is the entry to Powder River Subdivision No. 2.  

 
 
                            Driveway 

 
 
                            Frontage Improvements 

 
 
 
 
 
  

  
F. Annexation and Rezone: Annexation requires primarily two things: (1) the property is 

contiguous to city limits and (2) sewer and water service are available for immediate 
hook up.  Applicant’s parcel meets both of these requirements. Additionally, Applicant 
has complied with all other documentation and requirements necessary to complete 
annexation and rezone. 
 

G. Development Agreement:  Every annexation and rezone request requires a 
Development Agreement (“DA”).  Applicant and City Staff have used the City’s form for 
the DA, and have added the following provisions: 
 

a. Applicant will hook up the existing single-family home to Middleton sewer and 
water prior to finalization of the annexation by the Ada County Treasurer’s 
Office. 

b. All existing wells shall be abandoned per Idaho Department of Water 
Resources regulations prior to finalization of the annexation by the Ada County 
Treasurer’s Office.  

c. All septic systems shall be completely removed and the area recompacted per 
geotechnical study and report prior to finalization of the annexation by the Ada 
County Treasurer’s Office.  

d. Zoning for the parcel shall be R-3. 
e. If Applicant develops the parcel after annexation, Applicant will do the following: 

i. Any land division will occur through the subdivision platting process, 
even if the development will involve only two lots, and Applicant’s 
subdivision plat will comply with all engineering and agency requirements 
for final plat. 



             
        

3 
 

ii. Applicant shall improve the western 30’ half-road portion of Fox Avenue 
the entire length of the project and dedicate the same to the City of 
Middleton. 

iii. Applicant shall move the current access/approach north so that it is 
directly opposite N. Powder River Drive. 

iv. Applicant shall obtain a new access/approach permit from the City of 
Middleton 

 
H. Comments Received from Surrounding Landowners:  None. 
 
I. Comments from Agencies: 3/25/2021 comments from Canyon Highway District No. 

4 and 3/26/2021 comments from Middleton Mill Ditch Co.  CHD4 indicated that they 
had no concerns with the project.  Middleton Mill District sent a list of requirements that 
will be triggered if applicant chooses to develop the project in the future.  See 
comments in Council’s packets. 
 

J. Comments from City Engineer: City engineer reviewed the annexation survey data, 
exhibit, and legal description and found that the documentation was correct and 
supported the annexation request. City Engineer comments dated 3/31/2021 are in the 
City Council packet. 

 
K. Applicant Information:  Application was received and accepted on February 19, 

2021. The Applicant/Owners are Dan and Kerri LaFever – 23897 Fox Avenue, 
Middleton 83644 (208) 250-2598  
 

L. Notices & Neighborhood Meeting:    Dates: 
      

Newspaper Notification     04/18/2021 
 

 Radius notification mailed to 
 Adjacent landowners within 300’    04/16/2021  

 
 Circulation to Agencies     04/16/2021  
 
 Sign Posting property     04/16/2021 

 
Neighborhood Meeting     01/21/2021 
 

M. Applicable Codes and Standards: 
  
Idaho State Statute Title 67, Chapter 65 
Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction and Middleton Supplement thereto 
Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15, 1-16, 5-1, 5-3, and 5-4. 
 
 
 
 



             
        

4 
 

N. Conclusions and Recommended Conditions of Approval: 
 
The application for annexation/rezone and application for development agreement are 
in compliance with Middleton City Code and standards. If the City Council is inclined to 
approve the applications, Planning Staff recommends that no conditions of approval 
be tied to the applications.  The Development Agreement will take care of any issues 
that may arise. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by Middleton City Planner, Robert Stewart    Dated: 4/30/2021 





CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT – Matrix Breakdown / Providence Properties aka Hubble Homes 

 

The Contribution Agreement covers only 2 things:  Payment of Pro-rata Traffic fees and Payment of pro-
rata share to improve a large culvert/bridge on Duff 

 

Total pro-rata Traffic 
Fees due $427,008 

 

$133,008 contribution to constructing left turn lane at Duff & Hwy 44.  This 
will be paid by actually doing the design and constructing the intersection. If it 
cost less than $133,008 to construct the turn lane, Hubble will pay cash to 
City to ensure full $133,008 is paid in one form or another.  If it costs more 
than $133,008, the City will pay Hubble the difference. 

$294,000 paid at final plat on a “per phase and per lot basis”.   

There are 262 total residential lots. $294,000 ÷ 262 lots = $1122.14 per lot.   
Payments at final plat are as follows: 

Phase 1: 41 lots x $1122.14 = $46,007.74 
Phase 2: 31 lots x $1122.14 = $34,786.34 
Phase 3: 43 lots x $1122.14 = $48,252.02 
Phase 4:  38 lots x $1122.14 = $42,641.32 
Phase 5:  34 lots x  $1122.14 = $38,152.76 
Phase 6: 36 lots x 1122.14 = $40,397.04 
Phase 7: 39 lots x 1122.14 = $43,763.46 

 

Hubble owes 40% of the 
total cost to improve a 
culvert/bridge on Duff Lane. 
Total cost is $358,700.  
Hubble can choose either 1 
of the 2 alternatives to pay 
$143,480 due. 

 

 

 

Alternative 1 – Give the City a cashiers check in the amount of $215,220 
($143,480 x 150% = $215,220).  This money will sit in an account until the 
bridge fails and is constructed sometime in the future.  The $215,220 is 
effectively a bond amount.  Money not used must be paid back to Hubble. 

Alternative 2 –  Hubble will be the project manager and actually build the 
bridge along with its other frontage improvements.  City will pay Hubble an 
8% fee for the construction management.  Hubble will layout the cash and 
build the bridge then submit payment requests to the City.  The City will 
reimburse Hubble for all costs minus Hubble’s 40% proportionate share.  

The timing of bridge completion is affected by water in the canal. The 
contract specifically states that incompletion of the bridge will not prevent 
Hubble Homes from getting final plat but Hubble must bond for the bridge 
work that was not completed at final plat and then finish up the work as soon 
as the canal is dry.  



DRAFT 4/28/2021 

Contribution Agreement – Waterford Subdivision 
Page 1 

 

 
CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT 

 
 This Contribution Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between the City 
of Middleton, a municipal corporation in the State of Idaho (“City”); and Providence 
Properties, LLC (“Developer”). 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer owns approximately 99.02 acres of real property located at 0 
Duff Lane on the East side of Duff Lane, South of Foothill Rd. and North of 9th Street, 
Middleton, Canyon County, Idaho, commonly referred to in the Canyon County Assessor’s 
records as Parcel Nos. R33861 and R3386101, and legally described in Exhibit A attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (Property); and  
 
 WHEREAS, The City adopted Ordinance No. ____, on ________________, ________ to annex 
and rezone the Property from Canyon County Rural Residential (RR) to City of Middleton 
Single-Family Residential (R-3). The Ordinance became effective after it was approved, 
signed, published and recorded according to law, all of which actions the City performed at 
the City’s expense and with the Developer’s cooperation; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer intends to improve the Property according to the Middleton 
City Code and the City’s public works standards at the time(s) the Property is improved; and 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency 
of which is hereby acknowledged, and in consideration of the recitals above, which are 
incorporated below, and the mutual covenants, representations, and performances herein 
bargained for, relied on, and expected, the parties agree as follows: 
 

ARTICLE I 
INTERSECTION IMPROVEMENTS 

 
  Developer agrees to pay an Intersection Mitigation Fee as part of the Subdivision’s 
impact on the City road network. Said fees total $427,008.00 and shall be paid on the 
following schedule: 
  
A. Developer agrees to contribute $133,008.00 of the total Intersection Mitigation Fee 
towards an eastbound left turn lane at the intersection of Duff Lane and SH 44. Developer 
agrees to contribute said amount by managing the design, surveying, engineering, approval 
process and construction of the left turn lane. Developer shall coordinate with City, ITD and 
Canyon Highway District #4 during the design, management, and construction of the left turn 
lane.  

a. Developer’s $133,008.00 responsibility includes the following items and costs, which 
items and costs are hereinafter referred to as “Work”:  



DRAFT 4/28/2021 

Contribution Agreement – Waterford Subdivision 
Page 2 

 

1. All survey work, including Topographic survey 
2. Geotechnical Study 
3. Site Condition Analysis 
4. Engineering  
5. Application and review fees of all public reviewing bodies 
6. Bidding and contracting  
7. Construction costs (including but not limited to the cost of widening the road 

section, road closures, traffic control, drainage improvements, utility relocation or 
augmentation, striping and all required inspections and reporting)  

8. Construction management fee totaling 8% of all items listed above.  
 

b. Developer agrees to start the surveying and engineering design of the turn lane once 
the Waterford Phase 1 construction plans are approved by the City.  

c. During preliminary engineering, Developer will deliver to the city a preliminary cost 
estimate of the overall Work.  

d. At the conclusion of the bidding and contracting phase of the project and before 
construction begins on the Work, Developer will provide to the City an accounting of 
the costs to be incurred as well as an estimate of the remaining costs. Developer and 
the City will evaluate the overall cost of the Work and determine if additional monies 
will be required to complete the Work over and above the $133,008.00 amount.  

e. The City is responsible for the acquisition of the right of way, and construction cannot 
commence until the right of way is secured.  Developer is responsible for providing 
to the City a legal description of the right of way to be acquired.  

f. Developer agrees to start construction within a reasonable time after the turn lane 
construction plans are approved by all applicable entities and the City has acquired 
the right of way, and Developer will work to finish construction of the turn lane with 
deliberate speed depending on the conditions on the ground.  

g. At final acceptance of the turn lane, Developer will provide a final accounting of all 
the items defined in the Work. In the event the full cost of the left turn lane and all 
related items listed in 3.2.A are more than $133,008.00, the City will pay Developer 
the difference between the contribution and total cost. In the event the total cost is 
less than $133,008.00, Developer will pay the difference to the City.  

h. In whatever phase the City acquires the right of way for the left turn lane, the final 
plat for the subsequent phase will not be approved by the City until the left turn lane 
is constructed and accepted by all applicable entities.  

 
B. The remaining $294,000.00 Intersection Mitigation Fee will be paid to the City of 
Middleton on a per phase and per lot basis. The fee for each phase is based on the number of 
buildable lots in each phase. Payment of the fee for each phase of development will be a 
condition of final plat approval.  
 



DRAFT 4/28/2021 

Contribution Agreement – Waterford Subdivision 
Page 3 

 

ARTICLE II 
BRIDGE IMPROVEMENTS 

 
Developer agrees to pay 40% of the design, construction management, and 

construction costs for the bridge/culvert crossing located on Duff Lane at the Middleton Mill 
Ditch.  The April 14, 2020 Titanium Excavation Budget, attached hereto as Exhibit A, sets 
forth a $338,700.00 estimate for the crossing’s construction costs.  Design work is estimated 
to be an additional $20,000.00.  Developer may pay its 40% pro-rata portion of the total 
$358,700.00 amount one of two ways: 

 
A. Developer may pay, by cashier’s check or personal check, to the City 40% of the 
estimated cost of $358,700 multiplied by 150%, which is the City’s typical bond percentage, 
for a total amount of $215,220.00.  City will cash the check and hold the money in trust until 
the bridge is ultimately constructed.   

 
B. Developer shall design and construct the culvert crossing along with its frontage 
improvements along Duff Lane next to the Waterford project. 

i. City will pay Developer 8% of the overall cost for design and construction 
management, which amount will be offset against 40% owed. 

ii. Developer is responsible for completing the design of the culvert crossing and 
getting bids for the project. 

iii. Upon receipt of bids, Developer and the City agree to meet and determine the 
actual cost of the project.  If the project costs more than the current estimate, 
Developer agrees to pay 40% of the increased amount.  If the project costs less 
than the current estimate, then Developer will only be responsible for 40% of the 
lesser amount. 

iv. The Parties acknowledge that the Middleton Mill Ditch will have water in it until 
on or about October 15, 2021.  Failure to complete the bridge/culvert crossing 
will not delay the City’s final plat approval assuming all other required frontage 
improvements are complete and accepted by the City or other appropriate agency. 

v. If Developer desires final plat approval before completion of the project, 
Developer will submit a surety bond for the bridge construction in an amount 
150% of Developer’s responsibility for the bridge construction.  As soon as the 
water is out of the ditch, Developer agrees to construct the project.   
1. During the construction project, Developer may submit a “pay application” 

every 30 days for work completed.  The City will pay the amount due within 
30 days, less Developer’s 40% portion. 

vi. The surety will stay in place until the bridge is completed and accepted by the City. 
 



DRAFT 4/28/2021 

Contribution Agreement – Waterford Subdivision 
Page 4 

 

ARTICLE III 
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH AGREEMENT 

 
 3.1 If the Developer fails to comply with any of the terms or conditions in this 
Agreement, then the portion(s) of this Agreement pertaining to the breach may be modified 
or terminated by the Middleton City Council.  If after a breach, the City Council determines 
that the terms of this Agreement applicable to the breach should be modified, the term(s) of 
this Agreement shall be amended and the Developer shall comply with the amended terms. 
   

Any breach waived by the City shall apply solely to the breach waived and shall not 
bar any other rights or remedies of the City or apply to any subsequent breach of any such 
or other covenants and conditions. 
 
 3.2 Upon a breach of this Agreement, any of the parties in any court of competent 
jurisdiction, by action or proceeding at law or in equity, may secure the specific performance 
of the covenants and agreements herein contained, may be awarded damages for failure of 
performance of both, or may obtain rescission, disconnection, and damages for repudiation 
or material failure of performance. 
 
 3.3 NOTICE OF FAILED PERFORMANCE.  Upon any failure of any party to this 
Agreement to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the party claiming such failure 
shall notify, in writing, the party alleged to have failed to perform of the alleged failure and 
shall demand performance.  No breach of this Agreement may be found to have occurred if 
performance has commenced to the satisfaction of the complaining party with thirty (30) 
days of the receipt of such notice. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
 4.1 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties respecting the 
Property and supersedes all prior discussions and written and verbal agreements between 
the parties respecting the Property. 
 
 4.2 Any notice that a party may desire to give to another party must be in writing 
and may be given by personal delivery, by mailing the same registered or certified mail with 
a return receipt requested, or by Federal Express or other reputable overnight delivery 
service.  Notice shall be given to the parties at the following addresses or such other address 
and to such other persons as the parties may designate after giving notice.  Any such notice 
shall be deemed given upon delivery if by personal delivery, upon deposit in the United 
States mail if sent by mail pursuant to the forgoing: 
    
   Middleton: City Clerk 
     City of Middleton 
     P.O. Box 487 
     Middleton, Idaho 83644 
    



DRAFT 4/28/2021 

Contribution Agreement – Waterford Subdivision 
Page 5 

 

   Developer: Providence Properties, LLC 
     701 S. Allen St, Suite 104 
     Meridian, ID  83642 
      
 4.3 If either party shall fail to perform under this Agreement and said failure is 
cured with the assistance of an attorney for the other party, as a part of curing said failure, 
the reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by the other party shall be reimbursed to the other 
party upon demand.  In the event a suit or action is filed by either party against the other to 
interpret or enforce this Agreement, the unsuccessful party to such litigation agrees to pay 
to the prevailing party all costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred 
therein, including the same with respect to an appeal. 
 
 4.4 The Agreement shall be effective after being fully executed.  This Agreement 
shall become valid and binding only upon its approval by the City Council and execution of 
the Mayor and City Clerk.  After its execution, the Agreement shall be recorded in the office 
of the County Recorded at the expense of the City. 
 
 4.5 Each commitment and restriction described in this Agreement shall be a 
burden on the Property and run with the land and shall be appurtenant to and for the benefit 
of the Property, adjacent property and other residential land near the Property. 
 
 This Agreement shall be binding on the City and Developer, and their respective heirs, 
administrators, executors, agents, legal representatives, successors and assigns.  Provided, 
however, that if all or any portion of the Property is divided, then each owner of a legal lot 
shall only be responsible for duties and obligations or breaches as to their owners’ parcels 
or lots. 
   
 The new owner of the Property or any portion thereof (including, without limitation, 
any owner who acquires its interest by foreclosure, trustee’s sale or otherwise) shall be 
liable for all commitments and other obligations arising under this Agreement with respect 
only to such owner’s lot or parcel. 
 
 4.6 The Property that is the subject of this Agreement is located in Canyon County, 
Idaho and the terms of this Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of the State 
of Idaho in effect at this time this Agreement is executed.  Any action brought in connection 
with this Agreement shall be brought in a court of competent jurisdiction located in Canyon 
County, Idaho. 
 
 4.7 If any term, provision, commitment or restriction of this Agreement or the 
application thereof to any party or circumstance shall to any extent be held invalid or 
unenforceable, the remainder of this instrument shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 4.8 Time is of the essence for performance of each obligation in this Agreement. 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
  



DRAFT 4/28/2021 

Contribution Agreement – Waterford Subdivision 
Page 6 

 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto caused this Agreement to be 
executed, on the day and year first above written. 
 
 Dated this _____ day of _______________, 2021. 
 
 
CITY OF MIDDLETON    ATTEST 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________________  By: ____________________________________ 

Steven J. Rule, Mayor    Becky Crofts, City Clerk 
 

State of IDAHO  ) 
            ss. 
County of Canyon  ) 
 
I, a notary public, do hereby certify that on this _________ day of _________________, 2021, personally 
appeared before me Steven J. Rule, who, being first duly sworn, declared that he is the Mayor of the 
City of Middleton, Idaho and signed it as Mayor of the City of Middleton.   
 
      ________________________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
      My Commission Expires: ___________________ 
 
 
 
DEVELOPER: 
 
 
By: ________________________________________    
 Providence Properties, LLC.       
 
 
State of Idaho  ) 
    ss. 
County of   ) 
 
I, a notary public, do hereby certify that on this ___ day of ________________, 2021, personally appeared 
before me Neva Coburn who, being first duly sworn, declared that they signed   
 
            
      Notary Public 
      My Commission Expires:    



































  
 
 
 
 

From the Office of Deputy Chief Victor Islas   

Middleton Rural Fire District             Star Fire Protection District  
302 E. Main Street              11665 W. State St., Suite B  
Middleton, Idaho 83644                                                                                                                   Star, Idaho 83669  

May 17, 2021 
 
 
 
City of Middleton  
City Clerk  
P.O. Box 487  
Middleton, Idaho 83644 
 
 
RE:  Non-Areal Fireworks Stand Application  
 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
The Middleton Rural Fire District has reviewed the application received on May 14, 2021, for a Temporary 
Non-Areal Fireworks stand submitted by Phantom Fireworks.  The temporary stand will be located in the 
Ridley’s Family Market parking lot (430 E. Main St., Middleton, ID).   
 

Documents  Notes  
Bond and Certificate  Reviewed by V.Islas  
Site Map  Reviewed by V.Islas 
Product List  Reviewed by V.Islas 
Property Utilization Agreement Reviewed by V.Islas 
Fire District Fee  Reviewed by V.Islas 

 
Based on our review it is our recommendation that the application be approved with the following 
conditions:  
 

1. Temporary stand shall pass a Fire Safety Inspection before products are sold.   
 
 
If you have any questions or would like to discuss this letter in detail, please feel free to contact my office 
at (208) 585-6650. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Victor Islas 
Deputy Chief  
vislas@starfirerescue.org   
 
 

Victor Islas





MOU, STAR SEWER AND WATER DISTRICT AND THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, Page 1 

 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN THE 

 

STAR SEWER AND WATER DISTRICT 

AND THE 

CITY OF MIDDLETON, IDAHO 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is between the Star Sewer and Water District 

(DISTRICT) and the City of Middleton (CITY) jointly referred to as the "Parties." 

 

II.  PURPOSE  

 

The purpose of this MOU is to establish a process when a property owner requests water and sewer 

service by the DISTRICT and: 

 

1. The property to be served is contiguous with the corporate limits of CITY; or 

 

2. The property to be served is located within CITY’s impact area as established 

by Idaho Code Section 67-6526. 

 

Further, because both Parties operate water and sewer systems, this MOU expresses the mutual 

need and the intent of the Parties to jointly master plan the development and extension of water and 

sewer services in CITY’s impact area to minimize overlapping service areas and maximize the 

efficiency of each Party’s systems.   

 

III.  AUTHORITIES 

 

The authorities for the Parties to enter into this agreement include, but are not limited to, the 

following: 

1. Idaho Code Title 42 — Irrigation and Drainage, Chapter 32 Water and Sewer 

Districts. 

 

2. Idaho Code Title 50 - Municipal Corporations. 

 

3. Nothing in this MOU alters or supersedes the authorities and responsibilities 

of any of the Parties on any matter under their respective jurisdictions. 

 

IV. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

A. The DISTRICT roles and responsibilities include: 

 

1. Upon a request to annex into the DISTRICT boundaries and west of CanAda 

Road, the DISTRICT shall notify the CITY of the request. 

 

2. The DISTRICT will consult with and keep the CITY informed on the 



MOU, STAR SEWER AND WATER DISTRICT AND THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, Page 2 

 

 

progress of the application. 

 

3. Upon written notice and request by the CITY, the DISTRICT will require 

that the applicant seek annexation into the CITY limits as part of approval into the 

DISTRICT if the applicant’s property is contiguous with then-existing corporate 

limits of CITY. If Applicant will not annex or pre-annex into city, District will 

refrain from providing services to applicant’s property. 

 

4. Upon written notice and request by the CITY, the DISTRICT will require 

that the applicant enter into a pre-annexation agreement with CITY if the 

applicant’s property is not contiguous with then-existing corporate limits of CITY 

but is located within CITY’s impact area as established by Idaho Code Section 67-

6526. If Applicant will not enter into such an agreement, District will not provide 

services to applicant’s property. 

 

5. DISTRICT will work in good faith, immediately upon execution of this 

MOU, to coordinate planned system improvements and extensions in CITY’s 

impact area with CITY’s planned system improvements and extensions. 

 

B. The CITY's roles and responsibilities include: 

 

1. Upon notice from the DISTRICT of a proposed annexation into the 

DISTRICT, the CITY shall make a determination whether the CITY finds it is in 

CITY’s best interest to annex the property or, if the property is not contiguous to 

CITY limits, whether it is in CITY’s best interest to require a pre-annexation 

agreement between the property owner and CITY. 

 

2. Within 30 days of notice by the DISTRICT, the CITY shall provide a 

written reply to the DISTRICT whether the property should be annexed into the 

CITY or a pre-annexation agreement required. 

 

3. CITY will keep DISTRICT informed regarding the boundaries of CITY’s 

corporate limits and impact area boundary. 

 

4.  CITY will work in good faith, immediately upon execution of this MOU, to 

coordinate planned system improvements and extensions in CITY’s impact area 

with DISTRICT’s planned system improvements and extensions. 

 

 

V. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS; SEVERABILITY 

 

This MOU is subject to all applicable State and Federal laws, regulations and rules, whether now in 

force or hereafter enacted or promulgated. Nothing in this MOU shall be construed as in any way 

impairing the general powers of the Parties under such applicable laws, regulations, and rules. If 

any term or provision of this MOU is held to be invalid or illegal, such term or provision shall not 

affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions. Meeting the terms of 

this MOU shall not excuse any failure to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, whether 



MOU, STAR SEWER AND WATER DISTRICT AND THE CITY OF MIDDLETON, Page 3 

 

 

or not these laws and regulations are specifically listed herein. 

 

VI. TERM; AMENDMENTS; AND TERMINATION  

 

A. Term of MOU. This MOU is effective upon the date last signed and executed by a 

duly authorized representative of the Parties. 

 

B. Amendments: 

 

1.  The Parties may request changes to this MOU, which shall be effective only 

upon the written agreement of both Parties. 

 

2. Any changes, modification, revisions, or amendments to this MOU shall be 

incorporated by written instrument, executed and signed by all Parties, and will be 

effective in accordance with the terms and conditions contained herein. 

 

C. Termination. This MOU may be unilaterally terminated at any time by either of the 

Parties, following at least 30 days written notice to the other Party. 

 

VII.  SIGNATURES 

  

A. All signatories have the appropriate delegation of authority to sign this MOU. 

 

B. The Parties hereto have executed this MOU on the dates shown below. 

 

 

For the DISTRICT: 

 

By:             

 

Title        

 

 

For the CITY: 

 

By:             

 

Title        

 

Attest: 

 

 

        

City Clerk 




	FCO - LaFever Annexation.pdf
	A. Findings of Fact:
	1. Hearing Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.)
	2. Process Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.)
	3. Application and Property Facts: (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.)
	4. Required Findings per Middleton City Code 1-14-2(E)(7): (See Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is attached hereto as Exhibit “A’ and incorporated herein by this reference.)
	B. Conclusions of Law:
	1. That the City of Middleton shall exercise the powers conferred upon it by the “Local Land Use Planning Act of 1975,” codified at Chapter 65, Title 67, Idaho Code (I.C. §67-6503).
	2. That due consideration has been given to the comment(s) received from the governmental subdivisions providing services in the City of Middleton planning jurisdiction.
	3. That notice of the application and public hearing were given according to law.
	4. That City Council’s public hearing was conducted according to law, and the City has kept a record of the application and related documents.
	5. That codes and standards applicable to the application are the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, the Middleton Supplement to the Idaho Standards for Public Works Construction, and Middleton City Code 1-14, 1-15,1-16, 5-1, 5-3, and 5-4.

	6. That public facilities and services required by the proposed annexation will not impose expense upon the public if the attached conditions of approval are imposed.
	7. That this approval and recommendation are subject to the Conditions of Approval set forth in the attached Staff Report for the hearing date of May 5, 2021, which Report is incorporated herein by reference.  The City Council further finds that the r...
	C. Decision and Order:
	Pursuant to the City Council’s authority as provided in Middleton City Code 1-5-5, and based upon the above Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, it is hereby decided and ordered that:
	1. The annexation/rezone application and development agreement is approved subject to the Conditions of Approval set forth in the Staff Report for the May 5, 2021 Public Hearing attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by this reference.




